IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FORTHE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TALLAHASSEE DIVISION .

- UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

. | - '~ INDICIMENT

JEREMY FRAZIER, | - 4 00,21 - A=
TONY ACREUS,

TIMOTHY JOHNS, |
TODD WARTHEN,
and ‘

JOHN HONORE

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:
COUNT ONE
- That between in or about December, 2007, and on or about February 15, 2009, in the
Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendants, |
JEREMY FRAZIER,
TONY ACRELUS,
TIMOTHY JOHNS,
TODD WARTHEN,
: and
- JOHN HONORE, .
~did knovﬁn’gly and willfully conspire, combine, confederate, and ag;fee together and with other
persons, to commit an offense against the United States, that is, to knowingly, willfully, and with

intent to defraud, produce, use, and traffic in one or more counterfeit access devices, that is,

counterfeit credit cards, counterfeit debit cards, and counterfeit gift cards béaring fraudulently
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obtained account numbers, and in so doing, affected interstate commerce, in violation of Title 18,

* United States Code, Sections 1029(a)(1) and 1029(c).

MANNER AND MEANS OF CONSPIRACY.

The manner and meahs‘by which the conspiracy was carried out included the following:

1. It was part of the conspiracy that JEREMY FRAZIER, TONY ACREUS,
TIMOTHY JOHNS, TODD WARTHEN, and JOHN HONORE, and others, would and did
obtain approximately two-hundred (200) stolen credit card and debit card account numbers
belonging to victims fhroughout the Urii‘;éd States whose account informa'tioh was fraudulently
stolen in a data breach from. Hearﬂand Payment Systems, Inc. and elsewﬁere.

2. It was further part of the' conspiracy that unknown conspirators would and did
transfer the fraudulently obtained account informatiop onto other credit cards, debit cards, and gift
cards, and thereby produced counterfeit credit cards, debi;c cards, and gift cards.

3. It was further part of ;the conspiracy that defendants JEREMY FRAZIER, TONY
ACREUS, TIMOTHY JOHNS, TODD WARTHEN, and JOHN HONORE, and others,
would and did use the counterfeit credit cards, debit cards, and gift cards to purchase merchandise
and gift cards from retailers such as Wal-Mart, Baja Beach Club, and other stores located in the.
Northern District of Florida and elsewhere.

4. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendants JEREMY FRAZIER, TONY
ACREUS, TIMOTHY J OHNS, TODD WARTHEN, and JOHN HONORE, and others, by

. their conduct did fraudulently obtain and attempt to obtain more than $100,000 in merchandise



OVERT ACTS OFlT.HE CONSPIRACY

In furtheraace of this conspiracy, and to effect the abj ects thereof, the following overt
acts, among others, were aommitted<by the conspirators lin the quthem District of Florida, and
elsewharé:

1.  On o_f about November 13, 2008, deferldant JEREMY FRAZIER fraudulently
used a counterfeit credit l:ard and Wal-Mart gift cards that had been purchasecl with counterfeit
cl‘edit cards to purchase $1,022.89 in merchandise, to-wit: four (4) iPodé, at a Wal-Mart store in
Tallahassee, Florida. | |

2. ‘ On or abbut Novenlber 13, 2008? defendant lTONY ACREUS fraudulently usécl a
counterfeit credit card to purchase $201.49 in merchandisé, to—wit‘:‘ a gift car'd‘ and asodaata

Wal-Mart. storevin Tallahaséee, Florida..
3. On or about Novcmbé; 14, 2008, defeadant T.ODD WARTHEN fraudulently
- used a counterfeit credit card to purchase $202.31 in merchandise, tcl-wil: a gift card and
miscellaneous food items at a Wal—Marl store in Tallahassee, Florida.

4. On or about November 14, 2008, defepdant TODD WARTHEN fraudulently-
used a countarfeit credit card to purchase' ;$20>0.00' m lnerchandise, to-wit: a gift card at a Wal-
Mart store in Tallahassee, Florida. | |

5.. | .On or about November 16, 2008, defendant TIMOTHY JOHNS atlempted to
fraudﬁlently use counterfeit credit cards to purcv:hase'$77.54 m merc;handise, to-wit; miscellaneous

food items at a Wal—Mart store in Tallahassee, Florida.



6. On or about November 17, 2008, defendant TIMOTHY JOHNS fraudulently
used a ceunterfeit credit card to purcha‘se $1,200.00 in merchandise, to-wit: six (6) gift cards at a
Wal-Mart store in Tallahassee, Florida.

A On or about November 17, 2008, defendant JEREMY FRAZIER fraudulently‘
used a eounterfeit credit card to purchase $100.00 in merchandise, ’c_oéwit: a gift card at a Wal—
Mart- store in Tellahassee, Florida.

| 8. On or about November 17, 2008, defendanf TONY A_CREUS fpaudulentlsf used a
~ counterfeit credit card to purchase $201.49 m merchandise, to-wit: a gift card anci solda at a Wal-
' Mart store_in Tallahassee, Florida. | |

9. o On or about November 17, 2008, defendant TONY ACREUS frauduleﬁtly used a
counterfeit credit card to purchase $1,800.00 in merchandise, to-wit: nine (9) gift cards at a'Wal- '
Mart store in Tallahaésee, Florida. | |

10. On or about November 17, 2008, defendant TONY ACREUS fraudulenﬂy -used a
counterfeit credit card to burc_hase $§§OO;OO in mereharidise, to-wit: four (4) gift cards at 2 Wal- |
Ma.rt store in Tallahassee,'Florida. | ‘ |

11. On.or ebout November 18, 2008, defendant TONY ACREUS ﬁaudillently‘used a
counterfeit credit card to purchase $7‘,001 49 in merchandise; to-wit: twelve (12) gift cards and a
soda at e Wal-Mart store in Tallahassee, Florida. |

12. On or about November 18, 2008, defendant TOi‘TY :ACREUS ﬁ'éudulenﬂy used a
counterfeit credit card to purchase $3,000.00 in merchandise, to-wit: ’_c]ere'e (3) gift cards at ‘a Wal-

- Mart store in Tallahassee, Florida.



13. On or about November 18, 2008, defendant TONY ACREUS fraudulently ueed a |
counterfeit credit card to purchase $1,000.00 in merchandise, to-wit: one (1) gift card at a Wal-
Mart store in Tallahassee, Florida. |

14. On or about November 19, 2008, defendant TIMOTHY J OHNS fraudulently

ﬁsed Wal-Mart gift cards that had been purchased with counterfeit credit cards and attempted to

. fraudulently use counterfeit credit cards to purchase $3,.1 13.20 in merchandise, to-wit: two (2)

televisionslat a We.l-Mart store in Tallahaséee, Florida. .
15. - Onor about November 19, 2008, defendant JEREMY FRAZIER fraudulently B |
used Wal-Mart gift cards that had been purchased with counterfeit credit cards and atteﬁlpted to |
ﬁauduiently use counterfeit credit cards to purchase $1,716.78' in merchandise, to-wit: a television
at a Wal-Mart stofe m Tallahessee, Florida. |
16. On or about November 20, 2008, defendant J OH_N HOI;IORE attempted to

fraudulently use three (3) counterfeit credit cards to pu'rchase' $500.00 in merchandise, to-wit: a

gift card at a Wal-Mart store in Tallahassee, Florida.

17. E On or about November 20, 2008, defendan‘e JOHN HONOﬁE fr'auduleﬁtly-used
a counterfeit credit cérd to purchase $5 00.00 in merchandise, to-wit: a glft card at a Wal-Mart
store in Tallahassee, VF‘lorida..

18. On or about December‘4,'2008, in Tallahassee, Florida, defendant TONY
ACREUS possessed Wal-Mart gift carcis that had been purchased using counterfeit credit cards.

- 19. On or about February 7, 2009, defendant TONY ACREUS ﬁaudulenﬂy used

counterfeit credit cards to purchase $400.00 in merchandise, to-wit: two (2) gift cards at a Wal--

Mart store in Tallahassee, Florida.



20. ‘On or abou’; F elaruary 7, 2009, Aefendaht 'I:IZMOTHY JOHNS fraudulenﬂy used
- counterfeit credit cards to purchase $1,43 0.00 in merchandise, to-wit: six (6) gift cards at a Wal-
Mart store in Tallahassee, Florida. | |
21. On or about February 9, 2009, in_ Tallahassee, Florida, defendan.t TONY
ACREUS possessed counterfeif credit cards, counterféit debit cards, and counterfeit gift éards,
that had been ﬁaudulenﬂy encoded with account information ﬁom victims of identity ;cheft.’
22.- | 6n or about February 9, 2009, in Tallahassee, Floﬁda, defendant TONY |
ACREUS possessed Wal-Mart gift cards that had been purchased using counterfeit credit cards.
23. .V.On or about February 9, 2009, in Tailahagsee, Florida, defendant TONY
| ACREUS aﬁd defendant JEREMY FRAZIER possessed m the vehicle in-virhich they were
traveling, counterfeit credit cards and Wal-Mart gift cards that 1\'1ad been puq:chased with |
coﬁnterfeit credit cards, and merchandise which had been purchaéed ﬁsing Wal-Mart gift cards
purchased with aounterfeit credit cards. |
‘All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and '1029(b)(2).
| | COUNT TWO
That beﬁeen on or abOﬁt Octobar 28, 2008, and on or aboat February 15, 2609,'in the
Northern District of Florida and elsewhere, thé defendants,
| JEREMY FRAZIER,
TONY ACRETS,
TIMOTHY JOHNS,
TODD WARTHEN,
and

JOHN HONORE,

did knowingly, willfully, and with intent to defraud, produce, use, and traffic in one or more



counterfeit access devices, that is, counterfeit credit cards bearing fraudulently obtained avccountv
numbers, and in doingv so, affected‘ interstate commerce in vio}atidn of Title .1 8, United States
Code, Sections 1029(a)(1), 1029(c), and 2.
COUNT THREE
That on or about November 13,2008, m the Northern District of f‘lorida, the defenciant,
did knowingly possess and use, without lawful authority, a meané of ideptiﬁcation of another

person, naniely, access devices, further described as two (2) sixteen-digit credit and debit card

3.’3»

account numbérs, the last four digits of which were 9223 and 3476, during and in relation to a
felony violation enumerated in Title 18, Uﬁited States Code, Section 102 8A(c), that is, conspiracy
to produce, uéé, and tréfﬁcfin counterfeit' access devices as charged in'Count One of this
Indictment and producing, using‘ and t;afﬁcking m cqunterfeit access devices as ché.rged in Count
Two bf tlﬁs Indictment. | | |
_ In violation of Title 18, United States Code,‘ Se‘ctions 1028A and 2.
| COUNT FOUR.
That on or about November 13, 2008, in the Northern Districf of Florida, the defendant,
| TONY ACREUS7

did knowingly possess and use, without lawful authority, ameans of identification of another
| i)erson, namely, access devices, further described as one (1) sixteen-digit debit card account
| nuniber, the last fém digits of §vhich Wéé 1011, during and in relation to a felony violation

enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028A(c), that is, conspiracy to produce, use,

- and traffic in counterfeit access devices as charged in Count One of this Indictment and



- producing, using and trafficking in counterfeit access devices as charged in Count Two of this

Indictment. |
In violation of Tiﬂe 18, Unitéd States Code, Sections 1028A and 2.
' COUNT FIVE
That on or abo,ut, Noyember 14, 2008, in the Northérn District of Florida, the defendant,
TdDD WARTHEN, |
did knowingly possess and‘use, v)vithout 1awfui authority, a means of identiﬁcatibﬁ of another
person, namely, access dévices; further described as three (3) sixteen-digit credit and debit card

account numbers, the last four digits of which were 0237, 4967, and 9609, during and in relation

“to a felony violation enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028A(c), that is,

.conspiracy to produce, us,e; and tfafﬁc in coﬁnterfeit access deviceé as 'Charged in Coﬁnt One of
this Indictment and producing, using and trafficking in counterfeit access devices as charged in
(QounfTwo ;)f this Indicuhent.
In violation of Title 18, Unitéd States Code, Sections 1028A aﬁd 2.
B COUNT SIX |
That on or about November 14, 2008, in the Northern Dist;‘ict of Florida, the defendant,
TODD WARTHEN, R
did knowingly possess and uSe, .‘without I?Wﬁﬂ au;[hority, a means of ident_iﬁcation.of another
person, namely, access devices, further described as one (1) sixteen-digit debit card account k' :
number, the last fqur digits of which was 9609, during and in relation to a feiony violation
enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028A(c), that is, conspif%éy to prodﬁce, ‘use, A

and traffic in counterfeit access devices as charged in Count One of this Indictment and



producing, using and trafficking in counterfeit access devices as charged in Count Two of this
Indictment. |

In violétion of Title 18, United States Codé, Secﬁqns 1028A and'2.

COUNT SEVEN |
That_on or about November 16, 200'8; in the Norfhern District of Florida, the defendaﬁts?
TIMOTHY JOHNS,
and
JEREMY FRAZIER,

did knowingly possess and use, Without lawful authority, a means of idéntiﬁcation of anotherv
person, namely, access deVicéS, ,ﬁn{hef described as five (5) sixtéen—digit credit and debit card
account numbers, the last four digits of which were 7526, 8045, 7575, 7505, and 6492, during and -
in relation to a felony vioiation enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, .Sec.tion 1028A(c),
that is, conspﬁacy to produce, use, and traffic 1n couﬁterfeif access d_evicéé as charged in Count
One of this Indic’;nient and producing, using and trafﬁcldng in counterfeit access devices as
charged in Count Two of this Indictment. |

Iﬁ violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1028A and 2.

o COUNT EIGHT
That oﬁ or about Noveﬁber 17, 2008, in the Northern District bf Florida, the defeﬁdant,
| TIMOTHYJ OHNS, | |

.did knowingly possess and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of another
person, namely, aécess devicé‘s, further described as one (1) sixteen—digif credit card account
number, the last four digits of which was 9590, during and in relation to a felony violation

enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028A(c), that is, conspiracy to produce, use,



and traffic in couﬁterfeit access devices as charged in Count One of this Indictment aild'
producing, using and traffickiﬁg in counferfeit access devices as charged in Count Two of this
| ' Indictment.
In violation of Title 18, United Sfates Code, Sections,.1028A and 2.
| COUNT NINE
That on or about November 17, 2008,.' in the Northern District of Florida, tﬁe defendant, |
JEREMY FRAZIER, o |
did knowingly possess and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of anofher
pé_fson, namely, access devices? fu:rther described as one (1) sixteén—diéit.credit card. account
numbe'f, the last four digits of which was 7226, during and in rel.;altion toa felony violation
 enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028A(c), that is, conspiracy to produce, use,
 and traffic in couﬁterfeit access devices as charged in Count Oﬁe of this Indictment apd
- producing, using and trafficking in counterfeit access devices as charg‘éd in Count Two of this
Indic’u:hent.} |
In \'riola'ltion of Title 18, United. States Code, Sections 1028A and 2.
| COUNT TEN |
That on or about November 17, 2008, in the _Northern District of Florida, the defendant,
| TONY ACREUS,
did knowingly possess and use, without lav‘vful authority, a means of idcntiﬁcé.tion of another
 person, namely, access devices, further d‘es_cribed‘ as four‘(4) sixteen-digitv credit and debit card
account .numbers, the last four digits of which were 7720, 8355, 6284, and 2098, during and in

relation to a felony violation enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, Section}lO28A(<A:), that

10



is, conspiracy to produce, use, and ﬁafﬁc in counterfeit access devices as charged in Count One of
this Indictment and producing, using and trafficking in counterfeit access devices as charged in
Count Two of this Indictment. | |

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1028A and 2.

| COUNT ELEVEN ;
| That on or about November 18, 2008, in the Northern District of Florida, the defendant, .
| , TQNY ACREUS, ”
did knowingly possess and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of another |
person namely, access devices, further descnbed as four (4) s1xteen—d1g1t credit and debit card ‘
account numbers, the last four d1g1ts of which were 7226, 7841, 1750, and 2982, during and in
relation to a felony violation enumerated in T1t1e 18, Umted Statgs Code, Section 1028A(c), that |
is, conspiracy to produce, use, and traffic m counterfeit access devices as 'charged in Count One of
thiS'Indictment and producing, using and trafficking in cdunteﬁeit access devices as charged in
* Count Two of this Indictment. |
' In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 10284 and 2.
COUN'I‘ TWELVE
That on or about November 19, 2008, in the Northém vDistrict of Florida, the defendant,
TIMOTHY JOHNS, | | |

did knoﬁngly possess and use, withont lawful authonty, a means of identification of another
person, namely, acceas devices,lfurther described as five (5) sixteen-digit credit and debit card
account numbers, the last four digits of nvhich were 0992, 5467, 4484, 1205 , and 2783, during and

~inrelationto a felony violation enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028A(c),
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that is, conspiracy to produce, use, and traffic in counterfeit /access devicés as charged in Count
One of this Indictment and producing, using and trafﬁéking in counterfeit'access' devices as
: charged in Count Two of this Indictment.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1028A and 2.

COﬁNT THIRTEEN
That on or about November 19, 2008, 1n the Northern District of Florida, the'defendant,
- JEREMY FRAZIER, |

did knowingly possess and ﬁse, vglithout ‘lawful authority, a means of identi.ﬁcation‘ of anéther o
person, namely, acéess devices, Mer deséribed as fbﬁr (4) sixteen-digit credit and debit c&d
account numbérs, the last four digits of which wefe 5231, 8841, 0317, and 6521 'during and in
relatibn to a felony violation enumerated in Title 18, United' States Code, Section 1028A(c)., that '
is,v conspiracy to produce, use, and traffic m counterfeit access devices as chgrged in Count On¢_ of
this Indictment and produ_cing, _‘using and tréﬂicking in counterfeit access Adevices as charged m
Count Two of this Indictmént. | |

In violation of T-itle_-1}8, ﬁnitcd States Codé, Sections 1028A and 2.

COUNT FOURTEEN
That on or about NovémBer 20, 2008, in the Northern District of qurida, the defendant,
| JOHN HONORE, |

did knowingl& possess and use, with'outla.wful authority, a means of identification of aﬁother
person, nainely, access devices, further described as four (4) sbﬁeen—digit credit and debit éard
account numbers, the last four digits of which were 1734, 9581, 9757, and 2856, during and in

relation to a felony violation enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028A(c), that

12



is, conspiracy to produce, use, and traffic in counterfeit access devicés_ as charged in Count Oﬁe of .
this Indictment and producing,. using and trafficking in counterfeit access devices as charged in
Count Two of this Indictmént.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Seétions 1028A and 2.

~ COUNT FIFTEEN |
That on or about Fébruaiy 7, 2009, in the Ndrthérn District of Flérida, the defendant,
B TONY ACREUS, |
did knowingly possess and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of another
person, namely, access devices', further described as four (4) sixteen-digit credit and debit card
ac.countbnumbers', the last four digits of which were 9803, 6654, 0025, and 7568, during and in
relation to a felony violation enumerated m Title 18, United States Code; Section 1028A(c), thét
is, conspiracy to produce, use, and trafﬁc'in’coﬁnterfeit access devices asv charged in Count Oﬁe of
this Indicﬁnent and producing, using and trafficking in qOunterfeit access devicés as charged in
'. Count Two of this Indictment. | |
* In violation oi; Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1028A and 2.
| COUNT SIXTEEN |
That oﬁ or about Febfﬁary 7, 2.'009, in the Northern District Qf Floﬁdﬁ, the defendant,
~ TIMOTHY JOHNS, |

did knowingly’possess and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of another
~ person, namely, access devicés, further described as four (4) sixfeen—digit g;‘edit and debit card
account numbers, the last four digits of which were 4928, 8447, 8901, and 9801, during and in

relation to a felony violation enumerated in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028A(c), that '

13



is, conspiracy to produce, use, and trafﬁc.in counterfeit :acces_s deviées as charged in Count One of
this Indictment and producing,' using and trafficking in éounterfeit access devices as charged in
Count Two of this Indictment.
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 162éA and 2.
| ~ CRIMINAL FORFEITURE
The allegations containeci in Coimfs One and Two of this Indictment are hefeby realleged
gnd incorporated by reférence for the purpbse of alleging forfeiture pursuant to-‘ the provisions of
| Title 18, United States Code, Seqtions 982(a)(2)(B) and 1029(c)(2).‘
From his engagement in any or all of the violations aﬁ¢ged in Counts One and Two of this
Indictment, the defendants, |
TONY ACRETS, .
TIMOTHY JOHNS,
‘TODD WARTHEN, -
. and
JOHN HONORE,
- shall forfeit to .the United Sfates, pursiant to Title 18, Uhited States Code, Sections 982(2_1)(2)(b)
and .1(')29((:')(‘2)’ any and all of the defendant’s right, title aﬁd ‘interest‘in any pfoperty, real and
personal; constituting, and deﬁved from 'procc_aeds traceable fo such offenses. Specifically, the
| fpllowing property is élleged: a 2006 Dodge Magnuﬁ bearing VIN 2D4GV57256H516480, and
$1,217.00 of US currency. | | | |
B any of the property descn’bed above as being subject to for_feifure, as a result of acts or
omissioﬁs of the defendants: |
ll. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligencé;

2. has been transferred or sold to or deposited with a third party;

14



3. hbas been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

4. hasbeen substantially diminished in value; or
5. has been commingled with other property which cannot be subdivided

without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), to
seek forfeiture of any other property of said defendants up to the value of the forfeltable property
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